IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01219

AARCO OIL AND GAS COMPANY, et al.

Appellants/Plaintiffs

vs.

EOG RESOURCES, INC., et al.

Appellees/Defendants

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Covington County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS BELHAVEN PRODUCTION, LLC
AND LITTLE RIVER DRILLING, LLC

Roy H. Liddell (

WELLS MARBLE & HURST, PLLC

Post Office Box 131

Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0131.

Telephone: (601) 605-6900

Facsimile: (601) 605-6901

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS5
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT9
ARGUMENT11
1. The applicable standard of review is de novo
2. Absence of notice and equalization of the 1941 assessment before the 1942 tax sales renders the 1942 tax sales void as a matter of law
3. The statutory scheme in the 1930 Code for the assessment and equalization of real property rolls was unconstitutionally applied as regards the 1941 supplemental assessment and the 1942 tax sales
4. Notice of the 1942 tax sales was constitutionally deficient
5. The 1941 supplemental or back assessment was void as an improper back-assessment of land already assessed at blank or nothing in 1940
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>
Adams v. Tonella, 14 So. 17 (Miss. 1893)
Berryhill v. Johnston, 39 So. 2d 530, 532 (Miss. 1949)
Franklin County Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 975 So. 2d 872 (Miss. 2008) 11
Long Bell Co. v. McLendon, 90 So. 356 (Miss. 1922)
Matthieu v. Crosby Lumber & Mfg. Co., 49 So. 2d 894, 895 (Miss. 1951)
Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791, 103 S.Ct. 2706, 77 L. Ed. 2d 180 (1983)
Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950)
White v. Merchants & Planters Bank, 90 So. 2d 11 (Miss. 1956)
<u>Statutes</u>
Miss. Code (1930) § 3144
Miss. Code (1930) § 3162
Miss. Code (1930) § 3165
Miss. Code (1930) § 3230
Miss. Code (1942) § 9786
Miss. Code (1942) § 9789
Other Authorities
Miss. Const. Art. IV, § 112
U.S. Const. Amend. XIV

FORM OF CITATIONS TO THE RECORD

References to the record on appeal shall be designated "R" followed by the applicable page number in the record. (E.g., "R-1" as applied to page one of the record.) References to record excerpts shall be designated "RE" followed by the applicable excerpt number,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented by this appeal:

- 1. Whether the chancery court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendants/Appellees EOG Resources, Inc. et al. (collectively, "EOG") as per the order entered on June 26, 2008 in the Chancery Court of Covington County, Mississippi (R. 1787-1796).
- Whether the 1942 tax sales of the subject real property for non-payment of 1941
 ad valorem taxes (through which EOG claims) are void or voidable.
- 3. Whether the 1942 tax sales of the subject property for non-payment of 1941 ad valorem taxes (through which EOG claims) are void or unconstitutional due to the failure of the Board of Supervisors to equalize the real property tax rolls after the supplemental assessment in 1941 and before the 1942 sales.
- 4. Whether the notice requirements to assess, seize and sell private property under the 1930 Mississippi Code, as applied in this case, are constitutionally deficient or fail to satisfy the due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, to the extent they permit a sale for non-payment of taxes prior to equalization and an opportunity to object.
- 5. Whether the notice given of the purported 1941 supplemental assessment or the 1942 tax sales of the subject property (through which EOG claims) are constitutionally deficient and fail to satisfy the due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.
- 6. Whether publication notice of the 1942 tax sales of the subject property for non-payment of 1941 ad valorem taxes (through which EOG claims) was sufficient to satisfy the due process requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

7. Whether the 1942 tax sales of the subject property for non-payment of 1941 ad valorem taxes (through which EOG claims) are void notwithstanding a purported "supplemental assessment" in 1941, because the land having been assessed at blank or nothing, it was not left unassessed and could therefore not be additionally assessed or back-assessed via the purported supplemental assessment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Belhaven Production, LLC and Little River Drilling, LLC (collectively, "Belhaven" or "Appellants") appeal the order of the Chancery Court of Covington County, Mississippi dated June 26, 2008 granting summary judgment in favor of Appellees/Defendants EOG Resources, Inc., et al. (collectively, "EOG") and declaring that EOG has title to certain real property in Covington County, Mississippi.

This is a title dispute that is ultimately determined by the validity of two tax sales covering the subject property in April of 1942 for non-payment of ad valorem taxes in 1941.

EOG claims title through a forfeiture of the property in the 1942 tax sales and subsequent conveyances of that forfeited interest. Belhaven contends the tax sales were void and ineffective to pass title for several reasons, and claims title through a chain of title going back to the purchasers of mineral interests in the subject property in 1940. Unlike EOG's claim of title, Belhaven's chain of title has been consistently and repeatedly recognized as valid through regular leasing activities since the 1940's.

Belhaven claims the tax sales in 1942 are void because: the 1942 tax sales occurred before any equalization of the 1941 supplemental assessment on which the sales were based (the mineral owners through whom Belhaven claims were never given any notice of the assessment or equalization and an opportunity to object to same, making the sale an unconstitutional taking); the notice given of the 1942 sales was constitutionally deficient (publication notice is legally insufficient in this context to validate a sale); and, finally, the subject property, when last assessed and equalized, was state property that was assessed at blank or nothing, and therefore could not legitimately be sold for non-payment of taxes; any purported assessment of the property in 1941 was an improper attempted back-assessment.

In light of the invalidity of the 1942 tax sales as a matter of fact and law, Belhaven respectfully asks that the Court reverse the order of the chancery court granting summary judgment to EOG, and render judgment in favor of Belhaven.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves a dispute over title to the minerals under two tracts of land (collectively, "the Lands") in Covington County, Mississippi: <u>Tract 1</u> is described as: NW/4 SE/4, SE/4 SE/4; SE/4 NE/4 of Section 9-T7N-R16W; and SW/4NW/4 of Section 10-T7N-R16W; and <u>Tract 2</u> is described as: SW/4 SE/4 of Section 9-T7N-R16W.

All parties claim title through forfeited tax land patents from the State of Mississippi in November of 1940 to private individuals. Tract 1 was conveyed by the state to R. J. Graves ("Graves") (R. 539) and Tract 2 was conveyed to J. D. Nobles ("Nobles") (R. 563). The minerals under Tract 1 were then conveyed in 1940 by Graves, ½ to J. S. Wheless, Jr. (R. 540) ("Wheless") and ½ Aaron Cohen ("Cohen") (R. 541), and were then further conveyed in various transactions and fractions to successors-in-interest to Wheless and Cohen. The minerals under Tract 2 were similarly conveyed in 1940 by Nobles, ½ to H. Guin Lewis ("Lewis") (R. 565) and ½ to Jim H. Pugh ("Pugh") (R. 564), and were then conveyed in various transactions and fractions to successors-in-interest to Lewis and Pugh.

Belhaven, through an assignment, took leases of various mineral interests in Tracts 1 and 2 from certain of the successors-in-interest to Wheless, Cohen and Nobles. (R. 1518-1580)

These successors-in-interest (Belhaven's lessors) include: Wheless Investment Company; J. T. Trotter, Trustee of the Joseph Sydney Wheless, Jr. 1974 Trust; J. T. Trotter, Executor of the Estate of Ada Nance Wheless; Paige Holloway, Successor Trustee of the Paige Holloway Trotter GST Exemption Trust; Compass Bank, Trustee of the Barbara Trotter Collins GST Exemption Trust; Fielding Cocke; Camille Cocke Patton; Tamara C. Jenkins; Aarco Oil and Gas Company; Harrell Energy Corporation; Glenn C. Mortimer, III; Anne Mortimer Ballantyne; and Dorchester Royalty Company. *Id*.

EOG claims through a chain of title that is also derived originally from above-mentioned forfeited tax land patents to Graves and Nobles. However, unlike Belhaven's chain of title, EOG claims title through an alleged forfeiture of the interests of Wheless, Cohen and Lewis (Belhaven's predecessors-in-interest). This alleged forfeiture is based on two 1942 tax sales covering Tracts 1 and 2 for non-payment of 1941 ad valorem taxes on the Lands arising from an "off year" supplemental assessment of the Lands in 1941. (R. 550-551 and 797-798)¹

The real property tax rolls in Covington County, Mississippi were prepared and equalized in 1940 as required by state law. (R. 1702-1703; RE-1) At the time the real property rolls were prepared in 1940, the Lands were assessed at blank or nothing as state-owned lands. (R. 895; RE-2) As such, the Lands were not subject to ad valorem taxation. Later, in November of 1940, the minerals under the Lands were transferred to individuals at which time they became privately-owned property. (R. 540-541 and 564-565; RE-3)

In 1941, the tax collector added real property assessments to the tax roll "to be payed [sic] on for Tax year 1941 & 42." (R. 896; RE-4) These additional assessments included Tracts 1 (tax receipt number 2243) and 2 (tax receipt number 2244) of the Lands.²

Notably, the Board did not equalize the <u>real</u> property rolls in 1941 (relating to these additional assessments of Tracts 1 and 2 in 1941). (R. 1177-1351) Nor did the Board publish notice of any real property equalization and the right to inspect the rolls and object in 1941. *Id.* This is because equalization of the real property rolls had occurred a year earlier in 1940. (R.

¹ EOG also asserted in summary judgment pleadings that it owns the property through adverse possession, but this claim was appropriately withdrawn at the hearing in the chancery court on EOG's motion. This claim is without merit for many reasons not pertinent to the validity of the subject tax sales and forfeitures through which EOG claims.

The record is unclear as to whether these additional assessments actually occurred in 1941 or 1942, but EOG contends they occurred sometime in 1941.

1702-1703)³ The Board did equalize the <u>personal</u> property roll and entered an order accordingly.
(R. 1264-1265; RE-6)

On April 6, 1942, Tracts 1 and 2 of the Lands were sold for non-payment of 1941 ad valorem taxes allegedly due by virtue of the additional or supplemental assessments of the Lands. (R. 550-551 and 572) The tax collector sold Tract 1 on April 6, 1942 to Mrs. R. L. Windham for unpaid ad valorem taxes as recorded in Tax Sale Book 7, Page 140 of the records of Covington County. (R. 550-551) The tax collector sold Tract 2 to Independent Trust Fund on April 6, 1942 for unpaid 1941 ad valorem taxes, as recorded in Tax Sale Book 7, Page 159 of records of Covington County, Mississippi. (R. 572)

These tax sales occurred before the next scheduled equalization of the real property rolls in July of 1942. The Lands were thus sold before the mineral owners could have been notified of the supplemental assessments, before they could have inspected the equalized rolls, and before they could have registered any objections to the assessments.

Prior to these 1942 tax sales of the Lands, the tax collector published notice of the sales in the local newspaper. No other notice was provided. The tax collector made no effort to directly mail notice to the mineral owners (Wheless, Cohen and Lewis) or to otherwise advise the mineral owners of the impending forfeiture of their interests. Wheless and Cohen resided in Texas at the time and had no notice of the tax sales or any opportunity to protect their property

³ Section 3144 of the Mississippi Code of 1930 required the compilation and equalization of the real property tax roll every other year, and not in each successive year. Hence, the next equalization of the <u>real</u> property rolls following 1940 did not occur until 1942. (R. 1428, 1445-1446) The <u>personal</u> property roll was equalized in 1941 at the Board's July meeting, and an order "approving the 1941 personal roll" was placed in the Board's minutes, along with notice of the right to inspect, examine and object to same. (R. 1264-1265) But equalization of the personal property rolls was inconsequential as to real property in Covington County.

interests.

Never having been made aware of the sales, Wheless filed his Application for Ad-Valorem Tax Exemption of the Lands on December 23, 1946 and paid the mineral documentary tax. (R. 914) The estate of Cohen did likewise. (R. 932)

Amoco Production Company, Humble Oil and Refining Company, Mallard Exploration and others leased the interests of Wheless, Cohen and Lewis on several occasions from the 1940s to the present. (R. 905, 916) This was done with the understanding and advice of counsel that the tax sales in 1942 were void. (R. 972 and R. 892-894; RE-5 and RE-7) It was not until Belhaven took its subject leasehold interests that anyone claiming through the defective 1942 tax sales challenged the title emanating from Wheless, Cohen and Lewis.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The 1942 tax sales under which EOG claims are void for several reasons:

First, the 1942 tax sales are derived from supplemental assessments of real property in 1941 that were never equalized before the 1942 sales occurred and were never the subject of any opportunity of the land owners to inspect the rolls and object before the sales. The real property rolls had been equalized in 1940 at a time when the Lands were state-owned and were assessed at blank or nothing. They were not equalized again until 1942, after the subject tax sales in April of 1942. Because the 1942 tax sales were not based on a valid assessment and equalization of the real property rolls in 1941, they are void as a matter of law.

Second, the sale of the subject property for alleged non-payment of ad valorem taxes under nothing more than notice by publication has been held to be violative of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. The only notice given of the 1942 tax sales was publication notice in a local newspaper. Such notice is constitutionally deficient as a matter of law, and the 1942 tax sales were an improper taking of property without due process of the law.

Finally, at the time the 1940-1941 assessment roll of Covington County, Mississippi was compiled and approved by the Board of Supervisors, the subject property was state-owned property valued at blank or nothing, and was exempt from ad valorem taxation. This was the only equalized assessment applicable to the subject property at the time of the 1942 tax sales. Any sale of land assessed to the state was void, because one cannot sell exempt property for non-payment of taxes. Moreover, the lands having been assessed in 1940 at blank or nothing, they were not left unassessed and could not be back-assessed or additionally assessed in 1941 by the tax collector as a matter of longstanding Mississippi law.

The 1942 tax sales through which EOG claims are void for each of these reasons. The lower court's grant of summary judgment in favor of EOG should therefore be reversed.

ARGUMENT

1. The applicable standard of review is de novo.

This case is on appeal from the trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of EOG. In reviewing a trial court's entry of summary judgment, the Supreme Court employs a *de novo* standard of review. *Franklin County Mem'l Hosp. v. Miss. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 975 So. 2d 872, 874 (Miss. 2008).

2. Absence of notice and equalization of the 1941 assessment before the 1942 tax sales renders the 1942 tax sales void as a matter of law.

The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of EOG, based on a finding that the 1942 tax sales through which EOG claims were valid and effective to pass title. In doing so, the chancellor erred. The 1942 tax sales were invalid because they were based on a 1941 assessment of which the mineral owners were not given notice and an opportunity to object before the 1942 sales. There was no equalization of the tax rolls taking account the 1941 supplemental assessment before the 1942 tax sales. As shown below, this defect renders the 1942 tax sales void as a matter of law.

At the time of the 1941 supplemental assessment under which the 1942 tax sales occurred, Section 3162 of the Mississippi Code of 1930 (Section 9786 of the Code of 1942) required the board of supervisors to equalize the rolls at the July board meeting and complete equalization at least ten days before the August meeting. Section 3162 further required publication of immediate notice to taxpayers of the right to inspect and examine the rolls. Section 3165 of the Code of 1930 (Section 9789 of the Code of 1942) required the board to hear any taxpayer objections to the assessments at the August board meeting.

In order for a tax sale to be valid, notice and an opportunity to object to the assessment on

which the sale is based must be given to the landowner and must be recorded on the minutes of the Board of Supervisors. White v. Merchants & Planters Bank, 90 So.2d 11, 14 (Miss. 1956). The "giving of such notice is jurisdictional and is necessary to confer on the board of supervisors the jurisdiction to equalize and approve the assessment rolls, and the fact that such notice was given must affirmatively appear upon the minutes of the [board of supervisors' meeting]."

Matthieu v. Crosby Lumber & Mfg. Co., 49 So.2d 894, 895 (Miss. 1951). Absent such notice and an opportunity to be heard, the tax sale is "void." White, at 16. Such a sale without notice "[does] not vest [in the purchaser] any title to the land." Matthieu, at 895. Indeed, where no notice (or insufficient notice) is given, the entire assessment roll is to be stricken. Berryhill v. Johnston, 39 So.2d 530, 532 (Miss. 1949).

The record is unclear as to exactly when the 1941 supplemental assessment occurred, as it refers to taxes to be paid "for Tax year 1941 & 42." (R. 896; RE-4) The record is clear, however, that the board did not provide any notice of this supplemental real property assessment to taxpayers or give them the right to object in accord with the law and applicable statutes. The board minutes for the July 1941 meeting reflect an "Order Approving 1941 Personal Roll" that dealt only with personal property assessments and provided notice and an opportunity to object to them. (R. 1264-1265; RE-6) But no such order appears in the minutes of board's meetings with regard to real property assessments. This is a jurisdictional defect in the assessment process which renders the derivative 1942 tax sales void as a matter of law. Matthieu, 49 So. 2d at 895.

3. The statutory scheme in the 1930 Code for the assessment and equalization of real property rolls was unconstitutionally applied as regards the 1941 supplemental assessment and the 1942 tax sales.

At the time of the 1941 supplemental real property assessment, the real property tax rolls were assessed and equalized every other year (1940, 1942, 1944, etc.). See Section 3144,

Mississippi Code of 1930. In light of this, EOG contended at the hearing on its motion for summary judgment that the 1940 equalization was sufficient to validate the 1941 interim supplemental assessment and 1942 tax sales. See Reply of EOG at R. 1660-1663. EOG bases its argument on Section 3230 of the Code of 1930, which authorizes the tax collector to assess and collect taxes on land "that has become liable to taxation since the last assessment." Id., citing Section 3230 of the Mississippi Code of 1930. But the statute EOG relies on does not dispense with notice and equalization requirements.

While the land had become liable to taxation as privately-owned land, the 1941 supplemental assessment and 1942 tax sales did not comport with due process. In 1940, the subject property was state-owned land assessed at blank or nothing, and was exempt property as of the time of the biannual 1940 assessment and equalization process. The land was then sold to individuals in late 1940 and, as a result, became "liable to taxation since the last [1940] assessment." Section 3230, Code of 1930. Thus, it is undisputed that since the land had become liable to taxation, it was proper for the land to be assessed and added to the tax rolls. But it is also the case that the 1941 supplemental assessment had to be noticed and equalized before the 1942 tax sales for the 1942 sales to pass constitutional muster.

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