IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AARCO OIL AND GAS COMPANY, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-01219

EOG RESOURCES, INC., ET AL.

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF COVINGTON COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEES, FAIRCHILD-WINDHAM EXPLORATION COMPANY, WILEY FAIRCHILD FAMILY TRUST, BARBER MINERALS, INC., AND WILLIAM WALLACE ALLRED

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Lawrence C. Gunn, Jr. GUNN, HICKS & BENNETT PLLC Post Office Box 18350 Hattiesburg, MS 39404-8350 Telephone (601) 544-6770 Facsimile (601) 544-6775 E-mail: larry@gunnandhicks.com Exploration Company, Wiley Fairchild

Attorney for Appellees, Fairchild-Windham Family Trust

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

(R.566) This listing complied with the statute in effect at the time, Miss. Code Ann. §3148 (1930):

Lands assessed by the state tax commission shall be listed, but without value, on the rolls by the assessor for the purpose of completing the descriptions of all lands in the county, but for no other purpose.

In 1940, however, individuals purchased the tracts of land by two separate forfeited tax land patents. (R.539, 563) and, as required by statute, Miss. Code Ann. §3155 (1930), the tax assessor added each of these parcels of land to the tax assessment roll for 1941. (R.570-571)

Under the 1930 Code, land was not re-assessed each year. Rather, it was assessed only in even numbered years. See Miss. Code Ann. §3144 (1930) No part of the land in question, either the surface or the minerals, was assessed on the 1940 Covington County tax assessment roll.

However, the 1930 Code recognized that transactions such as the one involved in this appeal might occur. That is, after the assessment roll was prepared, the lands in question were conveyed by the State to individuals. In this instance, the statutes instructed the taxing officials of each county to see that these lands were added to the assessment roll for the ensuing year, and that is what happened in this case. See Miss. Code Ann. §3155 (1930) The lands were conveyed by the state land commissioner to R.J. Graves and J.D. Nobles on November 2, 1940, and the tax collector added those lands to the assessment roll for the year 1941 by a supplemental assessment appearing at the conclusion of the 1940 tax assessment roll. (R.570-571) When the Board of Supervisors met in 1941 to equalize the personal property rolls, there was no duty on the Board of Supervisors to make up a new land assessment roll for 1941 or to equalize the roll. However, the Board minutes indicate that the Board of Supervisors not only approved the personal property assessment roll for 1941, but they also made reference to approval of the real property roll for 1941. It is apparent that the Board of Supervisors had paid attention to the statutory directive that lands sold by the state after preparation of the 1940 assessment roll be added to the roll for 1941. (R.1783)

The two purchasers of the land in question immediately sold all of the mineral interests to predecessors in title of the appellants in this case, (R.540, 541), probably because those oil and gas speculators were the instigators of the transactions in the first instance. However, those speculators did not report their separate mineral properties to the tax assessor as required by Miss. Code Ann. §3146 (1930), so the severed mineral interests were not separately assessed and not separately taxed.

The assessment of the land thus encompassed the minerals, because the owners of those separately-owned minerals had not reported their acquisition as required by statute. Their failure to report these separate estates resulted in their not paying any taxes on their mineral interests, denying

Covington County of tax revenues that otherwise would have been collected.

When no taxes were paid, the land encompassing the mineral interests involved in this case was thus duly and properly sold for the 1941 taxes in 1942, those tax sales matured in the purchasers, and a proper clerk's deed was issued to the Fairchild Group's predecessors in title. (R.550, 574)

In the court below the appellants' challenge to the Fairchild Group's title was based on a contention that the land and minerals were not assessed at all, but the submission to the Chancellor of the 1941 assessment laid this factual contention to rest. (R.570-571) Thereafter the plaintiffs really had no cogent theory why the Fairchild Group's or EOG's motions for summary judgment should not be granted.

On appeal, however, they advance several novel arguments, none of which are raised in the pleadings or motion papers in the record.

First, Belhaven and Little River say in Section 2 of their brief (pages 11 and 12) that there was no notice and equalization of the 1941 assessment prior to the 1942 tax sales. They claim in this part of their brief that the Board was required to adopt an order giving notice of the 1941 assessment, but that "no such order appears in the minutes of Board's meetings with regard to real property assessments." (Appellants' brief, page 12).

The Board order from the July, 1941, meeting refers to both the real and personal assessment rolls. It states in material part:

[T]he Board affirmatively finds and adjudicates that J.C. Cranford, the Tax Assessor of Covington County, Mississippi, has completed and filed the 1941 <u>real and personal assessment rolls</u> of Covington County, Mississippi;..." (emphasis added) (R.1783)

This minute entry deals primarily with personal property assessment rolls for 1941, but it also clearly refers to the real property assessment roll as well as the personal property roll. The minute

entry also reflects proper publication of both the personal and real property rolls.

The important thing, however, is that it was not necessary for the Board to prepare an assessment roll for 1941 or to equalize the assessments that year. Under the procedures in effect at that time, Miss. Code Ann. §3144 (1930), the Board was required only to make up a real property assessment roll in even numbered years. The assessment roll for 1940 served also as the assessment roll for land taxes for 1941. See Miss. Code Ann. §3144 (1930) The only exception, which is the exception that is important in this case, is that lands that had been conveyed from the State of Mississispip to individuals after preparation of the 1940 roll, were by statute to have been added for 1941. See Miss. Code Ann. §§3144, 3145 (1930) No new roll was made, only an addition to the 1940 assessment roll, and that is why in the record of this case the lands in question are noted in a supplemental assessment prepared by the tax collector during 1941. His entries make it clear that prior to the Board meeting for July, 1941, he carefully noted all transactions indicating conveyances from the State to individuals in Covington County after the 1940 assessment roll was prepared and added those properties to the assessment roll for 1941 taxes. (R. 570-571)

All of the argument contained in Little River and Belhaven's brief at pages 11 through 14 is flatly contradicted by the records that were before the Court on the motion for summary judgment and which establish without any genuine issue of fact that the land in question was added to the tax roll in 1941 by the tax assessor and that the Board of Supervisors approved the amended tax roll and assessed the land for 1941 taxes.

Even if there were some ministerial act that was not technically followed by the tax assessor or the Board of Supervisors, nonetheless Miss. Code Ann. §3172 (1930) would cure such ministerial deficiency: "Assessments must be approved by an order of the board of supervisors entered on the

minutes; but the failure to make and enter such order shall not vitiate the assessment if it shall appear that the assessment was made according to law."

Section 3172 cures any technical defect that the appellees can point to in the assessment process. It is clear that the two tracts of land in question were in fact added on to the tax assessment roll. Thus the assessment was valid under §3172. See *McNatt v. Hyman*, 38 So.2d 107 (Miss. 1948); *Yazoo Delta Investment Company v. Suddeth*, 70 Miss. 416, 12 So. 246 (1893).

Section 5 of Little River and Belhaven's brief on page 16 sets forth another perplexing argument, and that appears to be that the listing of the land as owned by the state on the 1940 assessment roll means that the land was assessed for taxation. Once assessed, these appellants seem to say, their land could not be back assessed.

The problem in this argument is that Miss. Code Ann. §3148 (1930) provides in part:

Lands assessed by the state tax commission shall be listed, but without value, on the rolls by the assessor for the purpose of completing the descriptions of all lands in the county, but for no other purpose.

The tax assessor did exactly what the statute required. He listed the lands as owned by the State and assigned no value or assessment to them. (R. 566) Then when the lands were purchased from the State later that year, he saw that the lands were added to the assessment roll for 1941, as §3154 and §3155 require ("All lands...purchased from the state...shall thereafter be assessed and dealt with as the property of individuals....") (R. 570-571) Section 5 of Little River and Belhaven's brief is a complaint about a process that exactly complies with the statutory scheme.

To summarize, the taxing authorities of Covington County complied with the 1930 Code sections. When the land was purchased from the State, it was added to the assessment roll for the year 1941, as the statute mandates. By contrast, when the plaintiffs' predecessors in title acquired

the minerals separately from the land, they failed to report their acquisition to the tax assessor, so the severed mineral interests were not assessed separately. When the surface owners failed to pay the land taxes, the properties were sold for delinquent taxes, and these tax sales carried the mineral interests with them, as those interests had not been separately assessed. *Clement v. Burns, supra*. The Fairchild Group's predecessors in title legally acquired clear title to the mineral interests in dispute in this appeal. There is simply no merit to any of the appellants' contentions that the Covington County officials somehow failed to comply with the 1930 Code's tax assessment and collection mandates.

II. No constitutional issue was properly raised by the plaintiffs in their pleadings or motion papers, nor did they give notice to the Attorney General of Mississippi pursuant to M.R.C.P. 24(d)

A litigant wishing to raise a constitutional challenge to a state statute in a trial court of this state must do two things. First, he must specifically set forth the constitutional issue in either a pleading or a motion. Second, he must comply with M.R.C.P. 24(d) and notify the Attorney General of the State of Mississippi so that the Attorney General may intervene in the case and be heard on the question of constitutionality. The appellants complied with neither of these two requirements in the Chancery Court.

The Rule 24(d) argument is easier. That rules states in relevant part:

In any action....for declaratory relief brought pursuant to Rule 57 in which a declaration or adjudication of the unconstitutionality of any statute of the State of Mississippi is among the relief requested, the party asserting the unconstitutionality of the statute shall notify the Attorney General of the State of Mississippi within such time as to afford him an opportunity to intervene and argue the question of constitutionality.

This rule makes sense. Not all litigants have the same interest as the citizens of

Mississippi as a whole. If a party seeks to have a statute declared unconstitutional or, as in this case, an entire statutory scheme upon which a large part of the revenue of the state is based, then it is logical that the chief legal officer of the state be involved in the case to see that the constitutional issue is argued on behalf of the best interests of the citizens of the state.

The "constitutional" issue here, taken to its logical limits, would declare that the tax assessment scheme of the State of Mississippi is invalid because personal notice of assessment of real estate taxes is not mailed or delivered to every individual land owner before property is assessed for taxation. Such a declaration of unconstitutionality would alter the procedure for assessing real property throughout the state, affecting every county and municipal tax assessor and adding extra duties and expense on every local government across the state. The appellants seek to declare unconstitutional tax statutes over eighty years old. The Attorney General of the State of Mississippi needs to be heard in a case that would throw out Mississippi's tax assessment scheme and open untold numbers of long-standing titles to new and opportunistic challenges.

In Arceo v. Tolliver, 949 So.2d 691 (Miss. 2006), the court refused to consider any constitutional issue where the Attorney General was not notified under Rule 24(d). As the Court noted:

[N]o notice challenging the constitutionality of the statute was given to the Attorney General as required by law [citations omitted]. In sum, the issue of the constitutionality of [the statute] is not before us. 949 So.2d at 696

Arceo was not the first time the Rule 24(d) requirement was observed by this Court. In McDonald v. McDonald, 850 So.2d 1182 (Miss. 2002), the Court noted:

When a state statue's constitutionality is challenged, a party must

give notice to the Attorney General. M.R.C.P. 24(d). It is reversible error for a court to declare a statute unconstitutional without the Rule 24 notice.

In Martin v. Lowery, 912 So.2d 461 (Miss. 2005), the Court stated:

Furthermore, when a statute's constitutionality is challenged, the Attorney General must be notified and provided an opportunity to respond. 912 So. 2d at 465.

The court in *Martin v. Lowery* further noted that the constitutional issue "is procedurally barred" if no notice is given to the Attorney General that the issue has been raised. 912 So. 2d at 466, ¶11.

The requirement of notice to the Attorney General has been further upheld by this court in State v. Watkins, 676 So.2d 247, 250 (Miss. 1996), Cockrell v. Pearl River Valley Water Supply Dist., 865 So.2d 357, 360 (Miss. 2004), Barnes v. Singing River Hosp. Sys., 733 So.2d 199, 202-203 (Miss. 1999), and Pickens v. Donaldson, 748 So.2d 684, 691-692 (Miss. 1999).

The Rule 24(d) requirement was relaxed in one decision of this Court, *City of Starkville v.*4-County Electric Power Association, 909 So.2d 1094 (Miss. 2005), but in that case the Attorney General of the State of Mississippi in fact participated in the proceedings before this Court, apparently by consent, and submitted a brief. More to the point, the constitutional challenge in that case was soundly rejected by this Court. *City of Starkville* is a rare exception to the general rule recognized in the cases cited above, and we suggest this is not a proper case for deviation from the practical and mandatory requirement of M.R.C.P. 24(d).

Furthermore, the appellants did not raise the constitutional challenge properly in their pleadings or motion papers.

"The law has been well settled that the constitutionality of a statute will not be considered

unless the point is specifically pleaded." *Smith v. Fluor Corporation*, 514 So.2d 1227, 1232 (Miss. 1987).

This point was further amplified in *Martin v. Lowery, supra*, where the court stated:

A statutes' constitutionality will not be considered unless it has been specifically pleaded [citations omitted]. A specifically pleaded issue is one that has been raised in a proper motion before the court. 912 So.2d at 464-465 ¶8.

If this case were in the trial courts of the federal system and an effort were being made to challenge Mississippi's statutory taxing scheme on federal constitutional grounds, a federal court would likewise require the specific assertion of the precise constitutional provision in issue.

**Bankers Life and Casualty Company v. Crenshaw, 486 U.S. 71, 108 S.Ct. 1645 (1988), quoting **Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 108 S.Ct. 646 (1988), ("a generic reference to the 14th Amendment is not sufficient to preserve a constitutional claim based on an unidentified provision of the Bill of Rights..."). The **Crenshaw* court also quoted from **Webb* v. Webb*, 451 U.S. 493, 101 S.Ct. 1889 (1981), ("[a]t a minimum...there should be no doubt from the record that a claim under a **federal* statute or the **Federal* Constitution* was presented in the state courts and that those courts were apprised of the nature or substance of the federal claim at the time and in the manner required by state law.")

Appellants' briefs in this court, especially that filed by the Wheless Group, make lengthy and specific arguments against the constitutionality of this State's system for *ad valorem* assessment and enforcement of tax collection through the process of tax sales. For reasons discussed in the next section of this brief, those constitutional arguments are unfounded. The important point is that these arguments were not raised to the extent required by *Martin v*.

Lowery in any motion in the court below.

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